1990

Vernon J. Thomas v. David P. Adams : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF COURT OF APPEALS

This Appeal is from an Order of the Third Circuit Court dated January 22, 1990, granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing with prejudice Plaintiff's claim, thereby disposing of all issues before the Court. This Court is vested with jurisdiction to hear and decide this Appeal pursuant to Article VIII, Sections 1 and 5, Utah Constitution, Section 78-2(a)-3(2)(c), Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, and Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

On or about October 9, 1989, Allstate Insurance Company filed a subrogation suit in the name of its insured in the Third Judicial Circuit Court in Salt Lake County, State of Utah (R. 1). The matter was assigned to the Honorable Michael L. Hutchings. On or about November 17, 1989, Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 14), to which Allstate responded by filing a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 24). Defendant filed a Reply Memorandum (R. 34) and a Request for Ruling on its Motion (R. 39).

Thereafter, on or about December 22, 1989, the Circuit Court entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 41). Allstate then filed its Notice of Appeal (R. 45), and its Notice of Filing Cost Bond (R. 43) on February 20, 1990, appealing from the Circuit Court's Order Granting

Defendant's Motion.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the right granted by Section 31A-21-108 to Allstate to enforce its subrogation rights in the name of its insured is extinguished by the existence of Section 31A-22-309 where Defendant's insurer refuses to enter into arbitration.

2. Whether the lower Court's grant of Summary Judgment based on the fact that the claim is subject to statutorily-mandated binding arbitration is proper where the prevailing party refused to participate in arbitration.

3. Whether the release executed by Allstate's insured without Allstate's knowledge and after Defendant's insurer's receipt of notice of Allstate's unsettled subrogation claim extinguishes Allstate's subrogation rights.

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Appellant does not know of any legal authority which is determinative of the first two issues. As to the third issue, the determinative case is State Farm Mutual Insurance Co. v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 27 Utah 2d 166, 493 P.2d 1002 (1972).

STATEMENT OF CASE

On or about October 9, 1989, Plaintiff's insurer, Allstate Insurance Co. (hereinafter "Allstate"), brought a subrogation suit against Defendant's insurer for medical expenses resulting from a motor vehicle accident. (R. 1-2). On or about November

17, 1989, Defendant filed it's Motion for Summary Judgment, eventually citing as grounds Plaintiff's previous execution of a full release, the failure of the suit to be one for a subrogation claim, and the requirement that the claim at issue was statutorily subject to mandatory binding arbitration between the insurers. (R. 14-15, 34-38). The Circuit Court granted the Motion in favor of Respondent based on its finding that, because the suit involved a subrogation claim, the insurance companies were the proper parties and the matter should be resolved by binding arbitration. (R. 41-42).

The Circuit Court's Order was signed and entered on January 22, 1990. Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on February 20, 1990. (R. 45).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about December 14, 1987, on US Interstate 15 at approximately 600 North in Salt Lake City, the named parties were involved in a motor vehicle accident. (R. 1-2). As a direct and proximate result of the accident, Plaintiff suffered a heart attack and incurred reasonable and necessary medical expenses in excess of \$3,000. (R. 2). At the time of the collision, Plaintiff was insured by Allstate Insurance Company, (R. 24), and Defendant was insured by Transprotection or Vanlines Insurance Company (represented by Frontier Adjusters) through his employer A & M Moving & Storage. (R. 21, Exhibit A; 30, Exhibit B). Allstate paid Plaintiff for his medical expenses under Plaintiff's personal injury protection (PIP) coverage. (R. 25-

26; 31, Exhibit C). On January 12, 1988, Allstate filed a no-fault subrogation claim with Frontier Adjusters. (R. 29, Exhibit A). Three months later, by letter dated April 4, 1988, Frontier Adjusters expressly denied the subrogation claim. (R. 30, Exhibit B). By letter dated April 12, 1988, Allstate requested reconsideration of Frontier's rejection of Allstate's subrogation claim, expressly indicating its intent to file suit should the insurer prove not to be a member of the inter-company arbitration. (R. 31, Exhibit C). No response was ever received by Allstate to this letter.

On August 9, 1989, Allstate's insured (Plaintiff) signed a "Release of All Claims" releasing Defendant and his insurer from all liability arising from the accident and expressly representing that no unsettled subrogation rights existed. (R. 21-22, Exhibit A). Two months later, on October 9, 1989, Allstate filed its subrogation suit pursuant to Section 31A-21-108, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. (R. 1-2). One month later, on November 1, 1989, Defendant notified Allstate for the first time of the existence of the release executed by Allstate's insured. (R. 25).

On January 22, 1990, the Circuit Court entered Summary Judgment against Appellant, stating that "(1) This is a subrogation claim and should be decided at arbitration; (2) The proper parties are insurance companies." (R. 41-42).

From this Order of the Circuit Court, Allstate filed its Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

ARGUMENT I:

The Circuit Court found that Plaintiff's suit was based on a subrogation claim which should be resolved by binding arbitration pursuant to Section 31A-22-309. When Defendant's insurer would not enter into arbitration, Plaintiff properly brought suit on it's subrogation claim in the form of a subrogation action pursuant to Section 31A-21-108. Section 31A-22-309 does not bar an insurer's right to sue on its subrogation rights where arbitration has become impossible, and Allstate's right to format its claim as a subrogation action pursuant to statute remains in full force and effect. Therefore, the Summary Judgment should be reversed.

ARGUMENT II:

The Circuit Court granted Summary Judgment in part based on the fact that the claim is subject to statutorily-mandated binding arbitration. Prior to the filing of the suit, Defendant's insurer refused to participate in the required arbitration, preventing Allstate's pursuit of its claim under Section 31A-22-309. The Summary Judgment based on a failure to arbitrate is not proper where said failure was due to the prevailing party's own actions.

ARGUMENT III:

Allstate's insured signed a full release of liability

without Allstate's knowledge or consent. At the time the release was executed, and for eighteen months prior thereto, Defendant's insurer possessed knowledge of Allstate's unsettled subrogation claim. Consequently, execution of the release was ineffective to extinguish Allstate's subrogation rights.

ARGUMENTS

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In determining whether the trial court properly granted Summary Judgment as a matter of law, the Court on appeal reviews the trial court's conclusions for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's view of the law. Utah State Coalition of Senior Citizens v. Utah Power & Light Company, 776 P.2d 632 (Utah 1989); English v. Kienke, 774 P.2d 1154 (Utah App. 1989). This Court must reverse the Circuit Court's Order granting Summary Judgment to Defendant upon a finding by this Court that Defendant is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law under the facts advanced by Plaintiff. Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

ARGUMENT I

WHERE ALLSTATE WAS PREVENTED BY DEFENDANT'S INSURER FROM
PURSUING ITS RIGHT TO REIMBURSEMENT THROUGH
ARBITRATION, ALLSTATE PROPERLY PURSUED
REIMBURSEMENT THROUGH A SUBROGATION ACTION.

The Utah Legislature first enacted Section 31A-21-108 in 1947, providing that ". . . in subrogation actions [the insurer] may sue in the name of its insured." This section was re-enacted by the Legislature in 1986. Section 31A-22-309, dealing specifically with personal injury benefits, did not become

effective until 1974, at which time it first appeared as Section 31-41-11(b) using wording substantially identical to that found in the current version. Subsection 6 of this section requires that liability for reimbursement of PIP benefits "shall be decided by mandatory, binding arbitration between the insurers." These provisions, both embodied in the Insurance Code, must be construed harmoniously absent any repeal or amendment of either. Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983); Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480 (Utah 1980). Further, these statutes must be construed with a view towards the promotion of justice. Young v. Barney, 20 Utah 2d 108, 433 P.2d 846 (1967); State v. Hunt, 13 Utah 2d 32, 368 P.2d 261 (1962).

Allstate's subrogation suit against Defendant concerns reimbursement to Allstate of PIP benefits paid to its insured and for which Allstate has a right to reimbursement pursuant to statute. Section 31A-22-309. Allstate is required by statute to pursue mandatory arbitration to obtain reimbursement for these funds. However, this statute is not exhaustive of the remedies available to Allstate nor may it under the facts at hand act to bar Allstate's subrogation claim for reimbursement of the benefits.

Defendant's insurer, represented by Frontier Adjusters, is neither based nor licensed to do business in Utah. Its sole contact with Utah was its insured's transitory presence in this state at the time of the accident. Prior to bringing suit, Allstate inquired of the insurer regarding submission of the

matter to binding arbitration pursuant to statute. By letter to Defendant's counsel dated April 12, 1988, Allstate stated that "[i]f the carrier you represent is not a member of inter-company arbitration, we would have no option but to file suit to recover our costs." (R. 31). Frontier Adjusters refused to respond to Allstate's arbitration inquiries.

Implicit in Section 31A-22-309 is the assumption that reluctant insurers may be required to participate in arbitration. As a general rule, such enforcement may be achieved through the filing of a Complaint with the insurance commissioner. However, the facts of this case render such action ineffective. Allstate was forced to abandon the limiting provisions of Section 31A-22-309 and instead pursue its right to reimbursement of the proceeds through suit in state court. Allstate's failure to initiate arbitration proceedings was justified where such action clearly would be futile, would serve no useful purpose, and would meet with no cooperation from Defendant's insurer. Johnson v. Utah State Retirement Office, 621 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1980); In re Tanner, 549 P.2d 703 (Utah 1976). The most effective and efficient way of dealing with the parties' relative rights where one was not subject to the jurisdiction of the State was to pursue a subrogation action pursuant to 31A-21-108. Such an action would ensure Defendant's insurance carrier's submission to the jurisdiction of this Court in its defense of its insured while allowing Allstate to pursue its own remedy in the format available by law.

As a general rule, Sections 31A-21-108 and 31A-22-309 do not conflict when an insurer pursues reimbursement for PIP benefits paid to its insured. However, where one insurer may refuse with impunity to participate in statutorily-mandated arbitration, these provisions must be read together to promote justice and to give effect to both without nullifying either. Consequently, Allstate's right to enforce its subrogation claim in the name of its insured pursuant to statute must survive and coexist with the later provision mandating arbitration for reimbursement of PIP benefits where both provisions are reasonably necessary to do justice in the given situation.

ARGUMENT II

THE REFUSAL OF DEFENDANT'S INSURER TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION FORESTALLS THE COURT'S AWARD TO IT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE FACT THAT ARBITRATION IS MANDATORY.

The principles of justice and equity were violated when the Court condoned Defendant's insurance carrier's refusal to arbitrate by granting Defendant Summary Judgment on the basis that arbitration should have occurred. Instead, the Court should have entered an Order compelling arbitration and staying the proceedings pending the outcome of the arbitration. See, e.g., Section 78-31A-4.

In granting Defendant Summary Judgment, the Circuit Court effectively and completely barred Plaintiff's pursuit of its claim by court-mandated arbitration or otherwise. Defendant's insurance carrier remains free to reject any further arbitration attempts with impunity. Further, the Order of the Court gives

res judicata affect to any and all subsequent proceedings involving identical issues, effectively barring any remaining rights of Plaintiff to have the issue of liability for the PIP benefits tried and decided. Equity demands, therefore, that the Circuit Court's grant of Summary Judgment be reversed and the case be remanded for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT III

EXECUTION OF THE RELEASE BETWEEN PLAINTIFF & DEFENDANT'S INSURER WITH FULL KNOWLEDGE OF ALLSTATE'S UNSETTLED SUBROGATION CLAIM DID NOT EXTINGUISH ALLSTATE'S SUBROGATION RIGHTS.

Defendant initially submitted it's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the release executed by Allstate's insured, arguing that the release extinguished Allstate's right to reimbursement or subrogation. However, a clear majority of jurisdictions follow the rule that an insurer's right to the amount paid by it to its insured survives a settlement between its insured and the tortfeasor if: (1) the tortfeasor knows of the payment and the right of subrogation, (2) the insurer does not consent to the settlement, and (3) the settlement does not exhaust the tortfeasor's assets. State Farm Mutual Insurance Company v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 27 Utah 2d 166, 493 P.2d 1002 (1972); see also extensive list of jurisdictions following rule as cited in Leader National Insurance Company v. Torres, 751 P.2d 1252, 1255 n.2 (Wash. App. 1988). No allegation has yet been made that the settlement exhausted the assets of Defendant's insurer, a party to the release.

Allstate submitted notice of its claim to Defendant's

insurer on or about January 12, 1988, nineteen months before execution of the release. (R. 29, Exhibit A). The notice specifically referenced the existence of Allstate's "rights of subrogation for No-Fault benefit payments" for medical expenses. (R. 29, Exhibit A). Frontier Adjusters acknowledged their receipt of Allstate's claim by letter dated April 4, 1988, expressly denying the claim. (R. 30, Exhibit B). Allstate sent a second notice to Frontier Adjusters dated April 12, 1988. (R. 31, Exhibit C). Sixteen months later, on August 9, 1989, Allstate's insured executed the document entitled "Release of All Claims." (R. 32-33, Exhibit D). The document purports to release Defendant from any claim arising from the motor vehicle accident and declares that "the undersigned further represent that there are no unresolved subrogation claims and agree that if any such claims should be made, they will indemnify and save harmless those parties released hereby." (R. 32, Exhibit D). Allstate's first notice of the existence of the Release came one month after it filed suit (R. 25), giving Allstate no opportunity to object or consent to the agreement. Given the acknowledged notice of Allstate's claim and the lack of Allstate's consent to the release, Defendant's insurance carrier was not released from liability for Allstate's payment to its insured, and Allstate's right to payment survived execution of the Release, leaving Allstate free to enforce its right pursuant to Section 31A-22-309(6) or, when that avenue proved futile, by suit pursuant to Section 31A-21-108.

Finally, the issue of the validity of the Release and its affect on Allstate's claim creates a genuine issue of material fact barring Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant. Therefore, the Circuit Court's Order must be reversed and remanded for further proceedings.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court ruled as a matter of law that Defendant was entitled to Summary Judgment. However, the Court erred in interpreting the applicable statutory provisions and rendered an inappropriate remedy based on the facts and circumstances of the case before it.

The Circuit Court's determination that suit for a subrogation claim must be brought in the name of both insurers is contrary to the express language of Section 31A-21-108. This section expressly allows the filing of a subrogation suit in the name of the insurers, and Allstate's actions in judicially pursuing its subrogation rights in the name of its insured were both reasonable and lawful.

Having found pursuit of its remedy under Section 31A-22-209(6) foreclosed and rendered ineffective by Defendant's carrier's refusal to arbitrate, Allstate was within its rights to force intervention of the Courts and pursue its remedies under Section 31A-21-108. The subsequent award of Summary Judgment to Defendant where Defendant's actions prevented the realization of mandatory arbitration is incongruous with the concepts of equity and justice and must be reversed.