1990

# Vernon J. Thomas v. David P. Adams : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

1. The original Complaint filed in this matter, as pled, was a negligence action by the Plaintiff, Vernon J. Thomas, against the Defendant, David P. Adams, and nothing more. There is no mention in that Complaint of subrogation or insurance companies. The Complaint, as it was pled was a simple negligence action between individual parties and since both parties had already signed a release of all claims relating to the accident, the Complaint was barred.

2. If the intent of Plaintiff was to bring a subrogation claim, the Circuit Court below was correct in granting the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment for the following two reasons. First, the Complaint, as a subrogation action, named the wrong parties and

was not pled in the names of the proper parties, the insurance companies. Secondly, binding arbitration is statutorily required to determine the issue of liability for reimbursement of PIP benefits often paid by one insurance company which it is claimed is owed by another. Allstate has not attempted to pursue arbitration.

### **INTRODUCTION**

The standard for appellate review requires that this Court look only to facts which were in the record below. Plaintiff/Appellant has argued several facts for the first time on appeal and Defendant/Appellee would like to address the Court's attention to the impropriety of this. The record below consists of Plaintiff's Complaint, Defendant's answer, Defendant's Motion and Memorandum for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition and Defendant's Reply Memorandum. The Release of all Claims was also made a part of the record.

The Plaintiff, Mr. Thomas now seeks to introduce new facts and evidence to this Court for review. Mr. Thomas has included an Inter-Insurer Subrogation Memorandum, a letter to Allstate from Peter Stirba and a letter to Mr. Stirba from Allstate (although not signed by Allstate) with his Brief. Mr. Adams submits that this is improper and that these items should be disregarded by the Court on review.

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **A. The Original Complaint as Pled Was a Negligence Claim Between Individuals**

Although Allstate Insurance Company seems to be the party appealing the lower court ruling the fact is that the original Plaintiff was Vernon J. Thomas. There is not one single allegation in the Complaint referencing that the action below was a subrogation

action. There was not one single allegation in the Complaint indicating that, although the suit was brought in the name of Vernon Thomas, it was really Allstate Insurance Company who was suing as a subrogation claim. Furthermore, the matter was brought against the Defendant David P. Adams, the driver who was involved in the accident, rather than against his insurance carrier. There is no question that if the case was in fact a subrogation action for the reimbursement of PIP benefits under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(6) (1953), as amended, the proper party to the lawsuit would have been Defendant's insurance carrier not Defendant individually.

The Plaintiff, Mr. Thomas, continues to reference the following statute which states: "Subrogation actions may be brought by the insurer in the name of its insured. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-21-108 (1986) The Defendant agrees that this statute is relevant generally to subrogation actions. However, this is a very specific subrogation action for the reimbursement of very specific benefits, i.e. PIP benefits. The controlling statute is Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309 (1953), as amended. The original pleading by Plaintiff in this action was faulty for two reasons. First, there was no mention made that the claim against the Defendant was subrogation action. Second, under the PIP reimbursement statute, "the insurer of the person who would be held legally liable shall reimburse the other insurer for payment....," Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(6)(a) (1953), as amended. The statute which applies to this action is the specific subrogation statute relating to reimbursement for PIP benefits. It does not allow Allstate to bring an action against an insurer in the name of its insured, nor does it allow Allstate to sue an individual for reimbursement rather than the insurer.

It is clear that the original claim was not intended to be a subrogation action. After Allstate became aware that its insured had already signed a release with the Defendant, the

intent of Allstate to bring a subrogation action arose. This is why the release which was signed by the original parties is so important to this matter. The release was signed by Vernon J. Thomas with representation by his attorney and by David P. Adams, the Defendant, in consideration of \$5,000.00. This amount was paid to Mr. Thomas for the release of the claim. Therefore, there can be no claim of negligence by Vernon J. Thomas against David P. Adams and therefore, the release is dispositive of the original Complaint. It was one month after the original Complaint had been filed when Allstate became aware of the release and that the Complaint, as pled, would be barred by the release. It was only then that Allstate began insisting that the original Complaint was a subrogation action between the insurance carriers.

Thus, based upon the existing allegations in the Plaintiff's Complaint, the release signed by the Plaintiff is dispositive of the case. The case as pled was not a subrogation case and there was absolutely no reference in the Complaint to suggest that it was. Merely because Allstate began calling the Complaint a subrogation claim, does not make it so.

**B. If The Complaint Is To Be Construed As a Subrogation Claim, The Circuit Court Was Correct In Granting Summary Judgment**

Assuming, arguendo, that Plaintiff's Complaint should be construed differently than what has been alleged, that the Complaint is a subrogation claim for PIP reimbursement, then the Circuit Court was correct in granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the grounds that the Complaint named the wrong parties and, under the statute, the Plaintiff did not attempt to arbitrate the claim prior to suit. The express language of Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(6), (1988), requires that the claim be dismissed. Section 31A-22-309(6) states in pertinent part as follows:

(6) Every policy providing personal injury protection coverage is subject to the following:

(a) that where the insured under the policy is or would be held legally liable for the personal injury sustained by any person to whom benefits required under person injury protection have been paid by another insurer, including the Worker's Compensation Fund of Utah, the insurer of the person who would be held legally liable shall reimburse the other insurer for the payment, but not in excess of the amount of damages recoverable; and

(b) that the issue of liability for that reimbursement and its amount shall be decided by mandatory, binding arbitration between the insurers.

(Emphasis added). Accordingly, Plaintiff's Complaint was deficient and flawed in two major ways as was pointed out by Judge Hutchings and the Court below.

First, Plaintiff has failed to name the proper parties. In a subrogation action for PIP reimbursement, according to the statute, the insurer or the person liable shall reimburse the other insurer. Thus, even if there is a subrogation claim, it is between insurers and the proper party Plaintiff is Allstate and the proper party Defendant is Mr. Adams' insurer. The statute, which Plaintiff continues to cite as determinative of this issue, does not give the insurer in a PIP reimbursement claim the right to sue in the name of its insurer. The statute, Utah Code Ann. § 31A-21-108 (1986) does not apply to this type of subrogation claim. If it did, there would be no reason for the express language of the PIP statute. Therefore, as the Circuit Court properly found, the claim has been brought in the name of incorrect parties and, therefore, Judge Hutchings decision dismissing the action with prejudice is correct.

Mr. Thomas cites several cases for the proposition that "these provisions both embodied in the Insurance Code, must be construed harmoniously absent repeal or amendment of either." The first case, Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314 (Utah 1983), had nothing to do with the Insurance Code. The case does, however, cite a general rule of statutory construction that, "if there is an irreconcilable conflict between the new

provision and the prior statutes relating to the same subject matter, the new provision will control as it is the later expression of the legislature." Id., at 1318. Accordingly, the newer and more specific statute would be the one to control here, as it reflects the expression of the legislature with regard to subrogation actions for PIP reimbursement. Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480 (Utah 1980), also has nothing to do with the Insurance Code and provides no assistance in interpreting these statutes.

Second, the subrogation action or liability that is being asserted for PIP reimbursement, according to the No Fault PIP reimbursement statute, must be decided by "mandatory, binding arbitration between the insurers." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(6)(b) (1988). That being the case, the Circuit Court below was entirely correct in dismissing the action because there has been no binding arbitration between the insurers. Allstate has never initiated arbitration proceedings. Plaintiff has had opportunities to correct the errors in its Complaint and also to request arbitration, but has done neither.

In Appellant's Brief, Mr. Thomas makes the following allegations; "arbitration has become impossible," "Defendant's insurer refused to participate in the required arbitration," "Frontier Adjusters refused to respond to Allstate's arbitration inquiries," and "Allstate's failure to initiate arbitration proceedings was justified where such action clearly would be futile." All of these statements made in Appellant's Brief are false, not to mention the fact that these issues were first raised on appeal. Mr. Adams objects to the issues above being reviewed by this Court and suggests that they are irrelevant for the following reasons.

At no time was Vanliner Insurance Company or Frontier Adjusters ever asked to participate in a binding arbitration with Allstate. Frontier Adjusters, by letter of counsel on April 4, 1988, did refuse to pay a demand by Allstate for medical expenses incurred by Mr. Thomas as a result of his heart attack. The reason for this was that Frontier Adjusters



did not consider those expenses to be related to the automobile accident. There was no mention of arbitration and no refusal by Frontier Adjusters to arbitrate. Mr. Thomas suggests that a letter from Allstate dated April 12, 1988 stated that "If the carrier you represent is not a member of Inter Company Arbitration, we would have no option but to file suit to recover our costs." The letter attached to Mr. Thomas' brief does not say this, nor did the letter sent to Mr. Stirba. Frontier Adjusters did not respond to this letter as there was no response called for and, furthermore, the language of that letter was in no way an invitation to arbitrate the matter.

Even after Judge Hutchings found that the claim had been brought in the name of improper parties and that a binding arbitration was required if this was in fact a subrogation claim, Plaintiff chose to appeal the matter to this Court rather than ask for arbitration. The statute itself states that arbitration is mandatory and therefore, Frontier Adjusters would not be able to refuse as Plaintiff insists they have. Plaintiff admits on page 8 of Appellant's Brief that it has "failed to initiate arbitration proceedings." Plaintiff goes on to state that its failure to initiate arbitration proceedings is justified because the action would "clearly be futile." If Plaintiff has never initiated any arbitration proceedings, how could Plaintiff possibly know that such arbitration would be futile.

Mr. Thomas has improperly pled his claim. Judge Hutchings was correct in dismissing the claim as pled. The basis of Mr. Thomas' action is not within the review of this Court. Plaintiff has violated both statutes cited above by bringing the action in the names of improper parties and by failing to initiate mandatory arbitration proceedings with the insurer. Consequently, Judge Hutchings of the Third Circuit Court was entirely correct in dismissing the claim with prejudice and indicating that arbitration should be sought as

a remedy. Mr. Thomas, however, chose to appeal that decision rather than initiating arbitration with Mr. Adams' insurer.

### CONCLUSION

One of the basic principles of appellate procedure is that an appellate court should review questions of law and may not substitute its own view of the facts or make new fact findings. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that "a grant of Summary Judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P., 56(c); Utah State Coal. of Senior Citizens v. UP&L, 776 P.2d 632, 634 (Utah 1989). This Court, in the above case, went on to note that in deciding whether the trial court properly granted judgment as a matter of law to the prevailing party, "We give no difference to the trial court's view of the law; we review it for correctness." Id., citing Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Blomquist, 773 P.2d 1382, 1384-1385 (Utah 1989).

Here, the Circuit Court below granted summary judgment as a matter of law to Mr. Adams. It is the standard of the Court of Appeals to review that judgment for its correctness as to the law. The Appellant has attempted to mislead the Court by asserting facts which are not in the record below and not within the purview of the Court of Appeals. For example, in Appellant's Brief, Appellant states that "Frontier Adjusters is neither based nor licensed to do business in Utah." See Appellant's Brief, p. 7. This fact is entirely incorrect and not present in the record anywhere below. Another example of Appellant's attempts to mislead the Court by asserting facts which are either completely false or not represented in the record below, is Allstate's repeated assertion that the Defendant has refused to arbitrate this matter. This statement is completely false and also is not present in any record below. Two of the Appellant's arguments are based on this misinterpretation

of the facts. The fact of the matter is that Vanliner Insurance Company and Frontier Adjusters are, and always have been, willing to arbitrate, but have never been asked to do so by Allstate. Since this fact is not in the record below and is the basis of two of the Appellant's arguments, these arguments should be summarily disregarded by the Court of Appeals.

It is unclear what remedy the Appellant is seeking. Allstate has not indicated that it would be willing to arbitrate this matter and Plaintiff has, in fact, chosen to appeal the lower court's determination rather than enter into arbitration with Vanliner Insurance Co.. Mr. Thomas argues that somehow Vanliner may, in the future, refuse to arbitrate. The statute is quite clear in stating that arbitration is mandatory. It appears that, should either party refuse to arbitrate there is a remedy for violation of the statute. Mr. Thomas has also made the argument that res judicata somehow applies here. Res judicata would only apply to a suit for the same negligence claim between the same parties. Allstate has a remedy. Allstate can file a subrogation action in the name of the insurers, pursuant to the statute if arbitration is unsuccessful.

The ruling of the Circuit Court below was quite clear and simple. If Plaintiff was attempting to file a subrogation claim pursuant to the statutes cited above, it should have followed those statutes. While Section 31A-21-108 allows an insurer in a general insurance action to bring an action in the name of its insured, the section does not apply to subrogation claims for PIP reimbursement when there is a specific statute that does apply. In fact, the specific statute for automobile, PIP insurance claims and/or subrogation claims requires that "the insurer of a person who would be held legally liable shall reimburse the other insurer for the payment." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(6)(a) (1953), as amended. The statute is quite clear. Plaintiff has failed to bring its subrogation action pursuant to


statute in the name of the proper parties. Therefore, the ruling of the Circuit Court below was correct.

The Circuit Court below also ruled correctly that this action should be pursued in binding arbitration. The statute on this is also quite clear. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-309(b) states that the issue of liability for that reimbursement and its amount shall be decided by mandatory, binding arbitration between the insurers. By not requesting or initiating arbitration, Plaintiff has violated this statute. Plaintiff admits in his Brief that Allstate has never initiated arbitration with the Defendant's insurer. The Defendant's insurer has never refused to arbitrate and has always been ready, willing and able to do so upon request. The Circuit Court's ruling requiring arbitration is clearly pursuant to the statute and correct.

The Defendant, David P. Adams, (Appellee), for the above stated reasons respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals uphold the Circuit Court's Ruling granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissing Plaintiff's Claim with Prejudice.